



617 492 1400 tel 617 497 7944 fax 800 966 1254 toll free

1000 Winter St Waltham, MA 02451



Ameren Illinois Company 2018 Energy Efficiency Portfolio Cost-Effectiveness Results

Final September 20, 2019





Table of Contents

1.	Execu	utive Summary	3
	1.1	Background	3
	1.2	2018 Cost-Effectiveness Results	3
2.	Back	ground	5
3.	Cost-	Effectiveness Evaluation Methods	7
	3.1	Portfolio Benefits Considered	7
	3.2	Portfolio Costs Considered	8
		3.2.1 Incremental Costs	9
	3.3	Other Assumptions	10
4.	Resu	Its, Findings, and Recommendations	11
		Key Findings	
Apr	endix	A. Cost-Effectiveness Tables	13



Table of Tables

Table 1. Illinois TRC and PAC Test Results for the 2018 AIC Energy Efficiency Portfolio	4
Table 2. Inputs and Sources for Cost-Effectiveness Analysis	7
Table 3. Portfolio Benefits Considered	8
Table 4. Portfolio Costs Considered	8
Table 5. Incremental Cost Source Detail	9
Table 6. Illinois TRC and PAC Test Results for the 2018 AIC Portfolio	11
Table 7. 2018 AIC Cost-Effectiveness Benefits	13
Table 8. AIC 2018 Cost-Effectiveness Costs	14
Table 9. 2018 AIC Illinois Total Resource Cost Test	15
Table 10. 2018 AIC Utility Cost Test/Program Administrator Cost Test	16

1. Executive Summary

This report presents the results of cost-effectiveness testing conducted for Ameren Illinois Company (AIC)'s portfolio of energy efficiency programs implemented during 2018.

1.1 Background

Illinois state law (220 ILCS 5/8-103B ["Section 8-103B"] and 220 ILCS 5/8-104 ["Section 8-104"]) directs utilities to operate cost-effective energy efficiency programs, and to demonstrate that their energy efficiency portfolios are cost-effective using the Illinois Total Resource Cost (TRC) test. In accordance with law, relevant Illinois Commerce Commission (ICC) orders, and policy developed by the Illinois Stakeholder Advisory Group (SAG), Opinion Dynamics conducted cost-effectiveness testing for AIC's 2018 portfolio of energy efficiency programs. Cost-effectiveness testing for the Illinois TRC presented in this report aligns with national standard practice, as well as directives presented in the Illinois Energy Efficiency Policy Manual Version 1.1, and incorporates information from AIC program tracking data, Opinion Dynamics' 2018 evaluations of AIC's portfolio, and supporting information from the Illinois TRM (IL-TRM).

1.2 2018 Cost-Effectiveness Results

Opinion Dynamics used two separate tests to establish benefit-cost ratios for AlC's 2018 portfolio: the Illinois TRC test and the Program Administrator Cost (PAC) test. The tests are similar in most respects but consider slightly different benefits and costs in determining a benefit/cost ratio.

Illinois state legislation directs that cost-effectiveness testing for investment in energy efficiency or demand response should be conducted using the Illinois TRC test. The Illinois TRC considers the net present value of the total benefits of energy efficiency programs as compared to the total costs of energy efficiency programs. The Illinois TRC takes a broad perspective, considering the net benefits that accrue to utilities and to program participants from operation of the programs, and uses a societal discount rate to account for the time value of money.

Additionally, Illinois stakeholders have requested that cost-effectiveness testing also use the PAC test to provide additional context for directing future energy efficiency investments. The PAC analyzes the costs and benefits of energy efficiency investment from the perspective of AIC and does not consider benefits or costs that accrue only to participants in energy efficiency programs.

Overall, AIC's 2018 portfolio was cost-effective as defined by the Illinois TRC test and the PAC test. Table 1 provides the Illinois TRC and PAC test benefit-cost ratios, calculated for the portfolio, the Residential and Business Programs, and the initiatives that compose them.

Table 1. Illinois TRC and PAC Test Results for the 2018 AIC Energy Efficiency Portfolio

Program	Initiative	Illinois TRC Benefit-Cost Ratio	PAC Benefit-Cost Ratio
Residential	Retail Products	5.93	4.24
Residential	Income Qualifieda	2.35	0.86
Residential	Public Housing	2.75	1.21
Residential	Behavioral Modification	1.03	0.87
Residential	HVAC	3.94	1.76
Residential	Appliance Recycling	1.00b	0.86
Residential	Multifamily	1.58	1.34
Residential	Direct Distribution	2.56	0.47
Residential F	Program Total	3.41	1.56
Business	Standard	2.66	3.88
Business	Custom	1.93	3.38
Business	Retro-Commissioning	1.32	1.48
Business Streetlighting		1.10	2.62
Business Program Total		2.48	3.71
2018 AIC Po	rtfolio	2.52	2.39

^a Cost-effectiveness results for the Income Qualified Initiative include all four components of the Initiative (CAA, non-CAA, multifamily, and kits), as well as the DCEO New Construction Commitments and Smart Savers Pilot.

^b Rounded to two decimal places. The unrounded benefit-cost ratio for the Initiative indicates that it is not cost-effective by a marginal degree.

2. Background

Opinion Dynamics analyzed the cost-effectiveness of Ameren Illinois Company (AIC)'s 2018 portfolio using the Illinois Total Resource Cost (TRC) test and the Program Administrator Cost (PAC) test. Illinois state legislation directs that cost-effectiveness testing for investment in energy efficiency or demand response should be conducted using the Illinois TRC test. Additionally, Illinois stakeholders have requested that cost-effectiveness testing also use the PAC test to provide additional context for directing future energy efficiency investments. The combination of the TRC and PAC test values provides useful context to direct future investments.

As defined by Illinois state law (220 ILCS 5/8-103B ["Section 8-103B"]) and presented in the Illinois Energy Efficiency Policy Manual Version 1.1 ("the Illinois Policy Manual"), the definition of the Illinois TRC test for electric energy efficiency is as follows:

"Total resource cost test" or "TRC test" means a standard that is met if, for an investment in energy efficiency or demand-response measures, the benefit-cost ratio is greater than one. The benefit-cost ratio is the ratio of the net present value of the total benefits of the program to the net present value of the total costs as calculated over the lifetime of the measures. A total resource cost test compares the sum of avoided electric utility costs, representing the benefits that accrue to the system and the participant in the delivery of those efficiency measures and including avoided costs associated with reduced use of natural gas or other fuels, avoided costs associated with reduced water consumption, and avoided costs associated with reduced operation and maintenance costs, as well as other quantifiable societal benefits, to the sum of all incremental costs of end-use measures that are implemented due to the program (including both utility and participant contributions), plus costs to administer, deliver, and evaluate each demand-side program, to quantify the net savings obtained by substituting the demand-side program for supply resources. In calculating avoided costs of power and energy that an electric utility would otherwise have had to acquire, reasonable estimates shall be included of financial costs likely to be imposed by future regulations and legislation on emissions of greenhouse gases. In discounting future societal costs and benefits for the purpose of calculating net present values, a societal discount rate based on actual, long-term Treasury bond yields should be used. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the TRC test shall not include or take into account a calculation of market price suppression effects or demand reduction induced price effects.1

Illinois state law (220 ILCS 5/8-104 ["Section 8-104"]) also defines the Illinois TRC for natural gas energy efficiency:

"Cost-effective" means that the measures satisfy the total resource cost test which, for purposes of this Section, means a standard that is met if, for an investment in energy efficiency, the benefit-cost ratio is greater than one. The benefit-cost ratio is the ratio of the net present value of the total benefits of the measures to the net present value of the total costs as calculated over the lifetime of the measures. The total resource cost test compares the sum of avoided natural gas utility costs, representing the benefits that accrue to the system and the participant in the delivery of those efficiency measures, as well as other quantifiable societal benefits, including avoided electric utility costs, to the sum of all incremental costs of end use measures (including both utility and participant contributions), plus costs to administer, deliver, and evaluate each demand-side measure, to quantify the net savings obtained by substituting demand-side measures for supply resources. In calculating avoided costs, reasonable estimates shall be included for financial costs likely to be imposed by future

_

¹ 20 ILCS 3855/1-10.

regulation of emissions of greenhouse gases. The low-income programs described in item (4) of subsection (f) of this Section shall not be required to meet the total resource cost test.

As directed by state law, our analysis includes reasonable estimates of the avoided costs associated with the portfolio that relate to future regulation of greenhouse gas emissions. Additionally, as directed by the legislation, we utilized a societal discount rate to calculate the future societal costs and benefits delivered by the programs.

It is valuable for readers to note that the Illinois TRC test exhibits differences from tests referred to as "TRC" conducted in other jurisdictions. In particular, the Illinois TRC's directive to use a societal discount rate differs from the specification of the test in many other jurisdictions. The Illinois TRC also includes non-energy impacts, such as avoided operation and maintenance (O&M) costs, avoided water costs, and avoided costs associated with greenhouse gas emissions.

3. Cost-Effectiveness Evaluation Methods

Opinion Dynamics used program data provided by AIC along with the 2018 impact evaluation results to develop the cost-effectiveness analyses at the measure level, using a proprietary Opinion Dynamics tool. These results were then rolled up to produce Illinois TRC and PAC benefit-cost ratios at the initiative, program, and portfolio level. A detailed summary of the benefits and costs associated with each initiative and the broader portfolio is provided in Appendix A to this report.

Illinois state law requires AIC's portfolio to be cost-effective at the portfolio level, not including low-income programs, but individual programs, initiatives, or measures are not required to be cost-effective. Nevertheless, our analysis provides program- and initiative-level benefit-cost ratios to provide further insight for program planning. In addition, our analysis complies with all Illinois-specific guidance, including the Illinois TRC provisions and definitions of costs included in the Illinois Policy Manual. Table 2 provides high-level detail on the inputs used in the cost-effectiveness analysis, as well as the sources of these inputs.

Category	Input	Source
	 Net electric energy savings (including heating penalties)^a Net electric demand savings^a Net natural gas energy savings (including heating penalties)^a Measure counts 	Opinion Dynamics evaluation of the 2018 AIC portfolio
Program-specific inputs	Incremental measure costsOperations and maintenance costsWater savings (gallons)	Opinion Dynamics analysis using Illinois TRM
	Incentive costsNon-incentive costs	AIC
Portfolio inputs	 Portfolio administrative, Breakthrough Equipment and Devices, marketing, and evaluation, measurement, and verification costs 	AIC
Assumptions	 Avoided costs of electric production Avoided costs of electric capacity Avoided costs of natural gas production Avoided costs of water Avoided costs of greenhouse gas emissions 	AIC

Table 2. Inputs and Sources for Cost-Effectiveness Analysis

To assess cost-effectiveness, the team began with a valuation of each program's and the portfolio's net total benefits and costs, discussed in more detail in Sections 3.1 and 3.2.

3.1 Portfolio Benefits Considered

Line lossesDiscount rate

As directed in Illinois, our analysis included benefits associated with the 2018 AIC portfolio. These benefits are made up of a number of avoided costs, which are costs no longer incurred due to the energy efficiency programs under evaluation. Our analysis included avoided costs as defined in Table 3.

^a All net savings include temporal elements (including measure lives, baseline shifts, etc.) per the Illinois persisting savings framework.

Table 3. Portfolio Benefits Considered

		Included In	
Benefit	Definition	Illinois TRC	PAC
Avoided cost of electric energy (electric production)	Dollars per net kWh saved	✓	✓
Avoided cost of demand for electricity (electric capacity)	Dollars per net kW saved	✓	✓
Avoided cost of natural gas energy (gas production)	Dollars per net therm saved	✓	✓
Avoided line losses (transmission and distribution [T&D] costs)	Percentage of energy lost during T&D applied to net savings	✓	✓
Avoided O&M costs	Net dollars saved	✓	
Avoided cost of water	Dollars per net gallon of water saved	✓	
Avoided costs of greenhouse gas emissions	Dollars per net kWh saved	√	

Opinion Dynamics developed estimates of units of energy and water saved over time, as well as dollar estimates of avoided O&M costs. AIC provided avoided cost schedules, line loss factors, and a societal discount rate assumption, which were used to convert units of energy and water saved over time to a net present value (NPV) of total avoided costs in dollars.

All benefits listed above are included in the Illinois TRC test. The avoided cost of water and avoided O&M costs are participant benefits only and are excluded from calculation of the PAC test. Avoided costs of greenhouse gas emissions are a societal benefit explicitly defined for consideration in the Illinois TRC and are also excluded from calculation of the PAC test.

3.2 Portfolio Costs Considered

Our analysis also considered costs associated with the operation of the portfolio. The costs considered fall into four categories as defined in Table 4, and are in alignment with cost definitions from the Illinois Policy Manual.

Table 4. Portfolio Costs Considered

Benefit	Definition	Illinois TRC	PAC	
Net incremental measure costs	 Incremental expenses associated with the installation of energy efficiency measures, including both customer- and utility- side costs For cost-effectiveness analysis, net-to-gross ratios (NTGRs) are applied to incremental costs to ensure that only net incremental costs are considered in the analysis. 	√	✓	
Administrative costs associated with individual initiatives	AIC incurs administrative costs to operate energy efficiency programs; this category includes non-incentive costs associated with operation of individual initiatives	√	✓	
Administrative costs associated with the portfolio	AIC incurs administrative costs to operate energy efficiency programs; this category includes non-incentive costs associated with operation of the portfolio overall, including marketing and education, Breakthrough Equipment and Devices (BED), and evaluation, measurement and verification (EM&V)	✓	✓	
Incentive costs	Financial incentives paid to customers and incentives paid to third parties (as defined by the Illinois Policy Manual)		✓	

All costs listed above are included in the PAC test. Incentive costs are not included in calculation of the Illinois TRC test to prevent double-counting.²

3.2.1 Incremental Costs

As defined in the Illinois Policy Manual, "incremental costs" are the difference between the cost of the efficient measure and the cost of the most relevant baseline measure that would have been installed in the absence of an energy efficiency program. The Illinois Policy Manual directs those conducting cost-effectiveness testing to consider installation costs and O&M costs in calculation of incremental costs if there is a difference between the baseline and efficient measures. However, in accordance with further policy manual guidance to consider avoided O&M costs as a benefit in some cases, we do not include avoided O&M costs in incremental costs as part of this analysis but break them out separately for consideration.

Opinion Dynamics generally used the Illinois TRM to define gross incremental costs in the 2018 costeffectiveness analysis. In some cases, prescriptive incremental costs are not provided in the Illinois TRM. In those cases, discussed in more detail below, we treated measures as retrofits. The assumed baseline expenditure in these cases is \$0, and therefore, the incremental cost for these cases is the full cost of the energy efficient improvement as provided by AIC.

As directed by the Illinois Policy Manual, we then applied net-to-gross ratios (NTGRs) to ensure that only net incremental costs were considered in our analysis. Table 5 provides additional detail on the source of incremental costs used in our analysis.

Incremental Cost Source Program Initiative Measure costs or measure cost assumptions were sourced from the **Retail Products** IL-TRM V6.0. Carryover measures used assumptions from the applicable version of the TRM. Measure costs or measure cost assumptions were sourced from the IL-TRM V6.0 for the majority of measures. For measures delivered as part of the DCEO NC Commitments, we evaluated measures on a Income Qualified custom basis and assumed measures to be retrofits. Total project costs were unavailable for these measures and therefore we set incremental costs equal to incentives in the absence of other information. Measure costs or measure cost assumptions were sourced from the Residential Program **Public Housing** IL-TRM V6.0. Behavioral Modification No incremental costs associated with this initiative Measure costs or measure cost assumptions were sourced from the **HVAC** IL-TRM V6.0. Measure costs or measure cost assumptions were sourced from the Appliance Recycling IL-TRM V6.0. Measure costs or measure cost assumptions were sourced from the Multifamily IL-TRM V6.0. Measure costs or measure cost assumptions were sourced from the **Direct Distribution** IL-TRM V6.0.

Table 5. Incremental Cost Source Detail

-

² Illinois Policy Manual for Energy Efficiency Version 1.1, Page 25, footnote 46.

Program	Initiative	Incremental Cost Source
	Standard	For almost all measures, measure costs or measure cost guidance (e.g., incremental costs for some measures are defined as a function of measure size or another measure parameter) from the IL-TRM V6.0 were applied. For a handful of measures without prescriptive measure costs, such as leak repair, we used the total project cost provided by AIC as the incremental cost
Business Program	Custom	The evaluation team considered projects to be retrofits and used the reported project costs provided by AIC as the incremental cost.
	Retro-Commissioning	The evaluation team considered projects to be retrofits and used the reported project costs provided by AIC (including the cost of retrocommissioning studies) as the incremental cost.
	Streetlighting	Per IL-TRM V7.0 guidance, we assumed that the total project cost was the incremental cost.

3.3 Other Assumptions

As directed by legislation, Opinion Dynamics used a societal discount rate to conduct the 2018 cost-effectiveness analysis. Opinion Dynamics used a nominal discount rate of 2.22% in the analysis (real discount rate of 0.68%), which aligns with the planning values AIC used for the 2018-2021 plan period.

4. Results, Findings, and Recommendations

Overall, AlC's 2018 portfolio was cost-effective as defined by the Illinois TRC test and the PAC test. Table 6 provides the Illinois TRC and PAC test benefit-cost ratios, calculated for the portfolio, the Residential and Business Programs, and the initiatives that compose them.

Program	Initiative	Illinois TRC Benefit-Cost Ratio	PAC Benefit-Cost Ratio
Residential	Retail Products	5.93	4.24
Residential	Income Qualified ^a	2.35	0.86
Residential	Public Housing	2.75	1.21
Residential	Behavioral Modification	1.03	0.87
Residential	HVAC	3.94	1.76
Residential	Appliance Recycling	1.00b	0.86
Residential	Multifamily	1.58	1.34
Residential	Direct Distribution	2.56	0.47
Residential F	Program Total	3.41	1.56
Business	Standard	2.66	3.88
Business	Custom	1.93	3.38
Business	Retro-Commissioning	1.32	1.48
Business Streetlighting		1.10	2.62
Business Pro	gram Total	2.48	3.71
2018 AIC Po	rtfolio	2.52	2.39

Table 6. Illinois TRC and PAC Test Results for the 2018 AIC Portfolio

4.1 Key Findings

Key findings from the 2018 cost-effectiveness analysis are presented below.

- Overall, AlC's portfolio (inclusive of low-income programs, which is not required by Illinois law) was cost-effective based on the Illinois TRC test.
- Both the Residential and Business Programs were cost-effective based on the Illinois TRC.³
- One initiative, Appliance Recycling, was not cost-effective based on the Illinois TRC.
 - The Appliance Recycling Initiative has an Illinois TRC benefit-cost ratio of just under 1 (0.9981) and is very close to achieving cost-effectiveness.
- Program costs were not available for the components of the 2018 Income Qualified Initiative, and therefore Opinion Dynamics was not able to separately calculate cost-effectiveness of the moderate

^a Cost-effectiveness results for the Income Qualified Initiative include all four components of the Initiative (CAA, non-CAA, multifamily, and kits), as well as the DCEO New Construction Commitments and Smart Savers Pilot.

b Rounded to two decimal places. The unrounded benefit-cost ratio for the Initiative indicates that it is not cost-effective by a marginal degree.

³ Portfolio-level administrative costs were not considered as part of the benefit-cost ratios presented for individual programs or initiatives, and therefore, individual program and initiative benefit-cost ratios are inflated as compared to the portfolio-level benefit-cost ratio. Nevertheless, inclusion of these costs in either the Residential or Business Program analyses would not cause either program to become non-cost-effective.

income, CAA, multifamily, kits, DCEO New Construction Commitments, and Smart Savers components of the Initiative.

Appendix A. Cost-Effectiveness Tables

Detailed cost-effectiveness results aligning with the SAG template for cost-effectiveness reporting and including initiative-level benefits, costs, and benefit-cost ratios, are provided in Table 7, Table 8, Table 9, and Table 10 below. The results are also embedded as a spreadsheet.

Table 7. 2018 AIC Cost-Effectiveness Benefits

Program	Avoided Electric Production	Avoided Electric Capacity	Avoided Gas Production	Avoided Water Costs	Avoided O&M Costs	Avoided GHG Emissions
(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)	(f)	(g)
Residential Program	\$50,670,513	\$25,497,537	\$7,612,150	\$5,191,950	\$8,510,494	\$19,295,956
Retail Products	\$34,308,277	\$12,798,865	-\$4,342,022	\$0	\$8,269,218	\$12,456,907
Income Qualified	\$9,395,280	\$7,888,049	\$10,909,412	\$2,712,771	\$127,349	\$4,015,177
Public Housing	\$696,256	\$265,125	\$294,184	\$1,062,353	\$31,101	\$299,099
Behavioral Modification	\$792,079	\$550,548	\$175,246	\$0	\$0	\$277,375
HVAC	\$3,014,290	\$3,103,965	\$319,193	\$0	\$0	\$1,382,060
Appliance Recycling	\$1,089,806	\$365,673	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$379,866
Multifamily	\$975,713	\$349,074	\$173,998	\$240,926	\$14,876	\$345,742
Direct Distribution	\$398,812	\$176,238	\$82,139	\$1,175,899	\$67,949	\$139,730
Business Program	\$121,735,378	\$51,899,082	\$18,971,066	\$291,301	\$19,682,719	\$47,836,980
Standard	\$106,930,153	\$47,360,689	\$3,397,846	\$291,301	\$19,609,219	\$41,914,101
Custom	\$12,644,045	\$4,386,061	\$14,928,033	\$0	\$0	\$5,143,077
Retro-Commissioning	\$1,404,458	\$152,331	\$645,186	\$0	\$0	\$488,233
Streetlighting	\$756,722	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$73,499	\$291,569
Portfolio Costs	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
BED	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
EM&V	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Marketing & Education	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Administrative Expenses	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
AIC 2018 Portfolio	\$172,405,891	\$77,396,619	\$26,583,216	\$5,483,250	\$28,193,213	\$67,132,935

Table 8. AIC 2018 Cost-Effectiveness Costs

Program	Non-Incentive Costs (Electric)	Non-Incentive Costs (Gas)	Incentive Costs (Electric)	Incentive Costs (Gas)	Incremental Costs (Net)
(a)	(h)	(i)	(j)	(k)	(I)
Residential Program	\$15,536,823	\$2,329,819	\$28,910,028	\$6,773,161	\$16,411,385
Retail Products	\$2,523,097	\$202,505	\$6,459,092	\$896,930	\$7,973,620
Income Qualified	\$7,738,846	\$1,720,708	\$17,933,483	\$5,430,348	\$5,464,738
Public Housing	\$334,874	\$63,416	\$464,119	\$178,163	\$566,369
Behavioral Modification	\$1,738,204	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
HVAC	\$596,086	\$117,432	\$2,803,355	\$148,156	\$1,270,222
Appliance Recycling	\$1,299,624	\$0	\$395,761	\$0	\$539,274
Multifamily	\$717,570	\$161,780	\$213,128	\$22,841	\$452,355
Direct Distribution	\$588,522	\$63,978	\$641,089	\$96,722	\$144,807
Business Program	\$13,597,546	\$2,534,688	\$32,243,461	\$3,522,442	\$88,817,240
Standard	\$9,057,750	\$1,688,369	\$28,153,235	\$1,754,755	\$71,918,784
Custom	\$3,644,529	\$688,644	\$3,616,325	\$1,514,443	\$14,890,466
Retro-Commissioning	\$836,970	\$157,675	\$243,745	\$253,244	\$1,046,303
Streetlighting	\$58,297	\$0	\$230,157	\$0	\$961,687
Portfolio Costs	\$9,408,818	\$811,010	\$0	\$0	\$0
BED	\$2,969,484	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
EM&V	\$2,187,434	\$371,852	\$0	\$0	\$0
Marketing & Education	\$1,342,135	\$215,436	\$0	\$0	\$0
Administrative Expenses	\$2,909,765	\$223,723	\$0	\$0	\$0
AIC 2018 Portfolio	\$38,543,186	\$5,675,517	\$61,153,489	\$10,295,603	\$105,228,625

Table 9. 2018 AIC Illinois Total Resource Cost Test

Program	IL TRC Benefits	IL TRC Costs	IL TRC Test Net Benefits	IL TRC Test Ratio
(a)	(m) = (b+c+d+e+f+g)	(n) =(h+i+l)	(o)=(m-n)	(p)=(m/n)
Residential Program	\$116,778,598	\$34,278,026	\$82,500,572	3.41
Retail Products	\$63,491,245	\$10,699,221	\$52,792,024	5.93
Income Qualified	\$35,048,038	\$14,924,292	\$20,123,745	2.35
Public Housing	\$2,648,118	\$964,658	\$1,683,460	2.75
Behavioral Modification	\$1,795,249	\$1,738,204	\$57,045	1.03
HVAC	\$7,819,508	\$1,983,740	\$5,835,768	3.94
Appliance Recycling	\$1,835,344	\$1,838,898	-\$3,553	1.00
Multifamily	\$2,100,329	\$1,331,705	\$768,624	1.58
Direct Distribution	\$2,040,767	\$797,308	\$1,243,459	2.56
Business Program	\$260,416,525	\$104,949,474	\$155,467,051	2.48
Standard	\$219,503,309	\$82,664,903	\$136,838,406	2.66
Custom	\$37,101,216	\$19,223,639	\$17,877,577	1.93
Retro-Commissioning	\$2,690,209	\$2,040,948	\$649,261	1.32
Streetlighting	\$1,121,791	\$1,019,983	\$101,807	1.10
Portfolio Costs	\$0	\$10,219,828	-\$10,219,828	N/A
BED	\$0	\$2,969,484	-\$2,969,484	N/A
EM&V	\$0	\$2,559,286	-\$2,559,286	N/A
Marketing & Education	\$0	\$1,557,571	-\$1,557,571	N/A
Administrative Expenses	\$0	\$3,133,488	-\$3,133,488	N/A
AIC 2018 Portfolio	\$377,195,123	\$149,447,328	\$227,747,795	2.52

Table 10. 2018 AIC Utility Cost Test/Program Administrator Cost Test

Program	PAC Benefits	PAC Costs	PAC Test Net Benefits	PAC Test Ratio
(a)	(q) = (b+c+d)	(r) = (h+i+j+k)	(s)=(q-r)	(t)=(q/r)
Residential Program	\$83,780,199	\$53,549,830	\$30,230,369	1.56
Retail Products	\$42,765,120	\$10,081,623	\$32,683,496	4.24
Income Qualified	\$28,192,741	\$32,823,385	-\$4,630,645	0.86
Public Housing	\$1,255,565	\$1,040,571	\$214,994	1.21
Behavioral Modification	\$1,517,874	\$1,738,204	-\$220,330	0.87
HVAC	\$6,437,448	\$3,665,030	\$2,772,419	1.76
Appliance Recycling	\$1,455,479	\$1,695,385	-\$239,906	0.86
Multifamily	\$1,498,785	\$1,115,319	\$383,466	1.34
Direct Distribution	\$657,189	\$1,390,312	-\$733,124	0.47
Business Program	\$192,605,526	\$51,898,137	\$140,707,389	3.71
Standard	\$157,688,688	\$40,654,108	\$117,034,580	3.88
Custom	\$31,958,140	\$9,463,941	\$22,494,198	3.38
Retro-Commissioning	\$2,201,976	\$1,491,634	\$710,342	1.48
Streetlighting	\$756,722	\$288,454	\$468,268	2.62
Portfolio Costs	\$0			
BED	\$0	\$2,969,484	-\$2,969,484	N/A
EM&V	\$0	\$2,559,286	-\$2,559,286	N/A
Marketing & Education	\$0	\$1,557,571	-\$1,557,571	N/A
Administrative Expenses	\$0	\$3,133,488	-\$3,133,488	N/A
AIC 2018 Portfolio	\$276,385,725	\$115,667,795	\$160,717,930	2.39



For more information, please contact:

Hannah Howard Managing Director

510-214-0183 tel 510-444-5222 fax hhoward@opiniondynamics.com

1000 Winter Street Waltham, MA 02451



Boston | Headquarters

617 492 1400 tel 617 492 7944 fax 800 966 1254 toll free

1000 Winter Street Waltham, MA 02451 San Francisco Bay

510 444 5050 tel 510 444 5222 fax

1 Kaiser Plaza Suite 445

San Diego

858 270 5010 tel 858 270 5211 fax

7590 Fay Avenue Suite 406

Portland

503 287 9136 tel 503-281-7375 fax

3934 NE MLK Jr. Blvd. Suite 300 Oakland, CA 94612 La Jolla, CA 92037 Portland, OR 97212